THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM BEAUFORT COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

J. Mark Hayes, II, Circuit Court Judge

Lower Court Case No. 2002-CP-07-1377
Appellate Case No. 2013-001367

Ex parte: William Dixon Robertson III, William M. Bowen, W.
Jefferson Leath, Jr., Michael S. Seekings, and Timothy W. Bouch.....Appellants.

Timothy J. Treon and his wife, Jane Treon, and P. Jennings Scarce
and Steven Christian individually, and on behalf of other similarly
situated in the State of South Carolina,.....Respondents,

v.

Dryvit Systems, Inc.,..... Defendant.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

Tanya A. Gee S.C. Bar No. 70191
tgee@nexsenpruet.com

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. The Rule to Show Cause is Immediately Appealable Because It Violates Appellants' Constitutional Right to a Jury Trial on the Legal Claims in the *Treon/Tucker* Action
- II. Judge Hayes Lacked the Power to Issue a Rule to Show Cause against Former Class Counsel.
- III. The Rule to Show Cause Will Deprive Appellants of Due Process.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal involves three related civil actions, two of which have now been consolidated. The first is a class action that was filed in 2002 against Dryvit Systems, Inc. ("Dryvit"), regarding alleged defects in Dryvit's synthetic stucco product. This action was originally captioned *Cardamone, et al. v. Dryvit Systems, Inc.*, Case No. 2002-CP-07-1377 (referred to herein as the *Cardamone* action). Appellants, who served as class counsel from 2002 to January 2006, have had no involvement in the case since January 19, 2006, when they were relieved as counsel and their clients were relieved as class representatives. (R. Vol. I, p. 113) After Appellants and the former class representatives were relieved, the *Cardamone* action continued, with new class representatives and new class counsel. On June 10, 2010, the parties in *Cardamone* reached a settlement, which was approved by Judge Hayes, and the action against Dryvit was dismissed with prejudice. (R. Vol. I, p. 153)

In the second action, which was filed in 2008, new class representatives in the *Cardamone* action sued the former class representatives and Dryvit, alleging claims for civil conspiracy, breach of fiduciary duty, and fraudulent concealment. This putative class action was originally captioned *Treon, et al. v. Dryvit Systems, Inc. and*

Cardamone, et al., Case No. 2008-CP-07-774 (hereinafter referred to as “the *Treon* action”). Appellants were not parties to this action. (R. Vol. II, p. 488-502)

The third action, also brought by the new class representatives in the *Cardamone* action and also filed in 2008, alleged the same claims, against the same defendants as the *Treon* action, but also added claims for professional negligence and breach of fiduciary duty against Appellants and other attorneys who were class counsel in the *Cardamone* action from 2002 to 2006.¹ That putative class action was captioned *Tucker, et al. v. Leath Bouch & Crawford, LLP, et al.*, Case No. 08-CP-07-3145. (R. Vol. I, p. 192-210) In both *Treon* and *Tucker*, the plaintiffs demanded a jury trial. The *Treon* action and the *Tucker* action were consolidated (hereinafter referred to as the “*Treon/Tucker* action”).

The *Cardamone* action and the *Treon/Tucker* action are integrally related: the plaintiffs in the *Treon/Tucker* action are members of the *Cardamone* class, and the same named class representatives purport to represent the class in *Cardamone* and the putative class in the *Treon/Tucker* action; the attorney defendants in the *Treon/Tucker* action are some of the attorneys who represented the original class representatives in the *Cardamone* action; and the claims in the *Treon/Tucker* action relate exclusively to the *Treon/Tucker* defendants’ conduct as class counsel in the *Cardamone* action. Additionally, the Honorable J. Mark Hayes, II presided over both cases until his recent—and possibly temporary—self-recusal from the *Treon/Tucker* action. (R. Vol. I, p. 49-58)

On April 27, 2012, Judge Hayes stayed the *Treon/Tucker* action so that he could issue a Rule to Show Cause in the *Cardamone* action; the Rule to Show Cause was issued a month later, on June 1, 2012. (R. Vol. I, p. 34-48; p. 1-11) The Rule to Show Cause

¹ Two of the attorney defendants in *Treon/Tucker*, Frank E. Grimball and Mullen Wylie, LLC, have settled with the plaintiffs and are no longer parties to that action.

names both the original class representatives and original class counsel; it requires an accounting of all benefits received by the class representatives and all attorneys' fees received by class counsel; requires the original class representative and original class counsel "to show why the court should not require that all fees and/or benefits, if any, be paid into the court to be held in a constructive trust for the class." (R. Vol. I, p. 11) The Order announced the Rule to Show Cause would be heard on October 1, 2012. (R. Vol. I, p. 11)

Former class counsel and former class representatives all filed returns to the Rule to Show Cause, seeking to have the Order dismissed. (R. Vol. I, p. 156-258)) Former class counsel and class representatives argued the trial court lacked the power to rule them in, and they also argued that the Rule to Show Cause deprived them of a jury trial and other fundamental due process rights. A hearing on the motions to dismiss the Rule was held in July 2012.

On September 28, 2012, Judge Hayes issued a written order denying the motions to dismiss the Rule to Show Cause. (R. Vol. I, p. 12-17) On October 9, 2012, Appellants moved for reconsideration of the written order pursuant to Rule 59(e). (R. Vol. I, p. 259-321) Judge Hayes denied the motions for reconsideration on May 31, 2013, and Appellants noticed this appeal on June 14, 2013. (R. Vol. I, p. 29-33; Vol. II, p. 484-487) Respondents filed a motion to dismiss the appeal, which Judge Cureton denied, though he invited the parties to address appealability in their appellate briefs. (R. Vol. I, p. 62-63)

FACTS

The present appeal challenges Judge Hayes's issuance of a Rule to Show Cause in the *Cardamone* class action. Through a strange set of rulings, the trial court has thrust

Appellants into an action to which they are not parties; halted the *Treon/Tucker* action, to which Appellants are parties and in which the very same issues are at stake; and if allowed to continue, will deprive Appellants of their fundamental due process rights, including their right to a trial by jury. To understand how Appellants have fallen into this bizarre legal rabbit hole requires a detailed recitation of facts, which spans over ten years. While the procedural history of this case is tortured and confusing, it accurately reflects how the *Cardamone* and *Treon/Tucker* actions have become much like the chimera of Greek mythology – a monster made up of incongruous parts against which Appellants are forced to defend themselves.

I. The *Cardamone* Products Liability Class Action

During the 1990s, numerous homeowners across the nation filed legal actions against Dryvit, alleging defects in Dryvit's synthetic stucco product. In April 2002, in a case known as the *Posey* action,² a Tennessee court certified a nationwide settlement class and gave preliminary approval to a proposed class-wide settlement. Anyone wishing to opt-out of the settlement had to do so by September 3, 2002.

Prior to September 3, 2002, several individual actions against Dryvit were already pending in South Carolina. Among these were lawsuits filed by Appellant Seekings and his firm on behalf of John and Sally Cardamone in Beaufort County on August 10, 1999, and on behalf of Ramona Gianni in Horry County on October 10, 2001. Additionally, Appellants W. Jefferson Leath, Timothy W. Bouch, and William M. Bowen, and their

² *Bobby R. and Sabrina Posey, et al. vs. Dryvit Systems, Inc., et al.*, Civil Action No. 17,715-IV (Circuit Court, Jefferson County, Tennessee). The Honorable O. Duane Slone ("Judge Slone") presided over the *Posey* action.

respective law firms, had filed suit on behalf of Benjamin and Diane Clark in Beaufort County on May 24, 2002.

Appellants' individual clients each filed a notice prior to September 3, 2002, opting out of the *Posey* settlement, which Appellants viewed as wholly inadequate. Hoping to ensure that other homeowners in South Carolina were not bound by the *Posey* settlement, Appellants filed the *Cardamone* class action in August 2002 in Beaufort County. The purpose of the class was to opt out all persons in South Carolina who might have claims against Dryvit, thereby preventing those persons from being bound by the *Posey* settlement and permitting them to pursue their own individual actions against Dryvit in South Carolina. The designated class representatives were the Cardamones, the Clarks, and Ms. Gianni. An Order granting the plaintiffs' motion for class certification of an "opt-out class action" was entered on September 3, 2002, the very deadline for opting out of the *Posey* settlement in Tennessee. (R. Vol. I, p. 80-86)

After filing the *Cardamone* class action, three attorneys who represented that class, not knowing whether the order opting out that class would be honored by the Tennessee court,³ traveled to Tennessee to oppose the proposed settlement in *Posey*. Over Dryvit's objection, Judge O. Duane Slone permitted Frank Grimbball, one of the lawyers then representing the class in the *Cardamone* class action, to make a presentation detailing the inadequacies of the proposed settlement. Judge Slone thereafter refused to approve the proposed settlement, but instead allowed the parties in *Posey* to engage in additional settlement negotiations. (R. Vol. I, p. 91; p. 299)

³ In fact, at least one federal appellate court had already held, in 1998, that such group opt-outs were not permitted under federal class action rules. *See Hanlon v. Chrysler Corp.*, 150 F.3d 1011, 1024 (9th Cir. 1998).

The ensuing negotiations substantially improved the terms of the *Posey* settlement. According to the Order and Judgment Granting Final Approval of Settlement, entered by Judge Slone on January 14, 2003, the revised settlement included “an enhancement of the rights and options of Class Members and a substantial increase in the value of the benefits made available to persons who make claims under the Settlement.” (R. Vol. I, p. 91) Judge Slone specifically noted the contributions of counsel from South Carolina in improving the *Posey* settlement. (R. Vol. I, p. 91; p. 299-300) In his order approving the revised settlement, Judge Slone awarded \$11.6 million in attorneys’ fees and specifically authorized lead class counsel in *Posey*, in its sole discretion, to “allocate and distribute this award of attorneys’ fees and expenses among counsel for the Class.” (R. Vol. I, p. 96)

After the *Posey* settlement was approved in Tennessee, the Cardamones, Clarks, Ms. Gianni, and all of Appellants’ other clients who had filed individual lawsuits prior to the filing of the *Cardamone* class action, settled and dismissed their individual South Carolina lawsuits. (R. Vol. I, p. 109) The *Cardamone* class action, however, remained pending.

Because the class representatives had all settled their individual claims, several new attorneys moved to intervene as class counsel in the *Cardamone* class action and to substitute new class representatives. At the same time, original class counsel—whose clients had resolved their individual claims against Dryvit—moved to be relieved as counsel. (R. Vol. I, p. 109) Prior to being relieved as counsel, Appellant Dixon Robertson sent a letter to new class counsel and copied Judge Hayes, disclosing that

former class counsel were to receive attorneys' fees based on their participation in the *Posey* case. Specifically Appellant Robertson wrote:

Because of the contributions South Carolina made in the *Posey* case, class counsel agree to pay a portion of their attorney fees to us, in recognition of the work we did as counsel for objectors in *Posey*. To avoid even the appearance of impropriety, I wanted to make sure you knew about them. (R. Vol. I, p. 268-269)

New class counsel responded to Appellant Robertson's letter, asking him to clarify the reason original class counsel were receiving attorneys' fees. He also copied Judge Hayes. (R. Vol. I, p. 271-273) Robertson provided this clarification in a letter dated January 3, 2006, which again was copied on all attorneys and Judge Hayes, stating "any fees we may receive are in recognition of work done in *Posey*, not in this case. I am aware of no agreement with Dryvit affecting the vitality of the *Cardamone* action." (R. Vol. I, p. 275)

Judge Hayes, who by then had been appointed by the Supreme Court to preside over the *Cardamone* class action and who was copied on the correspondence regarding attorneys' fees, granted the motion to intervene, substituting Timothy and Jane Treon and P. Jennings Scarce as the class representatives, and appointing Gregory M. Alford, Thomas J. Finn, Thomas E. Williams, Robert B. Phillips, Richard Gleissner, and Donald E. Jonas (collectively, "the Alford group") as new class counsel. (R. Vol. I, p. 108-112) By consent order dated January 19, 2006, Judge Hayes also granted the motion for some of the original class counsel, including Appellants, to be relieved. (R. Vol. I, p. 108-112) For the next seven years, Appellants, had no involvement in the *Cardamone* class action.

A. Rule to Show Cause

On January 12, 2010, the Alford group filed a “Motion for an Accounting and Deposit into Court of All Attorneys’ Fees Collected by All Class Counsel or in the alternative for a Rule to Show Cause Why Counsel Should Not Be Held in Contempt.” (R. Vol. I, p. 322) The motion alleged that original class counsel, including Appellants, failed to adequately represent the absent members of the *Cardamone* class and received fees for their representation of the *Cardamone* class without notice to the class or Court approval. (R. Vol. I, p. 322-334) Judge Hayes held a hearing on the motion on March 31, 2010, and orally announced his intention to grant the motion. (R. Vol. II, p. 848, ll. 13-14) However, this ruling was never reduced to writing or filed prior to the *Cardamone* action being settled in June 2010.

B. Settlement and Dismissal with Prejudice

In June 2010, the parties to the *Cardamone* class action brought a settlement agreement to Judge Hayes, which he approved. In the order granting final approval of the settlement, Judge Hayes dismissed with prejudice “[the *Cardamone*] Action and all claims, rulings and motions against the Settling Defendant . . . , but the Court [retained] exclusive and continuing jurisdiction of the Action, all Parties, and Settlement Class Members, to interpret and enforce the terms, conditions and obligations of this Settlement Agreement consistent herewith.” (R. Vol. I, p. 153)

II. The Treon/Tucker Action

In 2008—two years before the *Cardamone* class action settled—the Alford group filed a putative class action against the former class representatives (the Cardamones, the

Clarks, and Gianni) and Dryvit.⁴ The named plaintiffs and putative class representative were Timothy Treon and Jennings Scarce, both of whom were still serving as class representatives in the *Cardamone* action. The *Treon* action asserted causes of action for civil conspiracy, breach of fiduciary duty, and fraudulent concealment. (R. Vol. II, p. 488-502) These claims were based on factual allegations that the former class representatives had reached “lucrative individual settlements which Dryvit conditioned on the dismissal of the *Cardamone* Action” without informing the court. (R. Vol. II, p. 496) Dryvit was also named as a defendant in this action, and Dryvit removed the *Treon* action to federal court. The *Treon* plaintiffs then moved to remand the case back to state court.

While the motion to remand was pending, the Alford group filed yet another lawsuit against the former class representatives and, for the first time, against former class counsel.⁵ The *Tucker* action included all of the causes of action in *Treon* (civil conspiracy, breach of fiduciary duty, and fraudulent concealment) and a professional negligence cause of action directed to the original class counsel only. (R. Vol. I, p. 192-210) The crux of the allegations against class counsel (including Appellants) is that they failed to adequately represent the absent members of the *Cardamone* class and received fees for their representation of the *Cardamone* class without notice to the class or Court approval. In the *Tucker* action, the plaintiffs originally sought, among other things, disgorgement of all attorneys’ fees and settlement proceeds as well as special, compensatory, and punitive damages. (R. Vol. I, p. 209)

⁴ *Treon, et al. v. Dryvit Sys., Inc., et al.*, Case No. 2008-07-774.

⁵ *Tucker, et al. v. Leath, Bouche, & Crawford, LLP, et. al.*, Case No. 2008-CP-07-3145.

After the *Treon* case was remanded back to state court, it was consolidated with the *Tucker* action and is referred to herein as the “*Treon/Tucker* action.” In both *Treon* and *Tucker*, the plaintiffs demanded a jury trial, a mode of trial to which the defendants in those actions, including Appellants, have a constitutional right. (R. Vol. II, p. 488; Vol. I, p. 192)

A. Disqualification of the Alford group from the *Treon/Tucker* Action

In the summer of 2009, counsel for the Cardamones realized that one of the attorneys in the Alford group, Thomas J. Finn, had formerly been an attorney at the Mullen Wylie law firm, which had represented the Cardamones in their individual action against Dryvit. (R. Vol. I, p. 116) While working for Mullen Wylie, Finn had participated in the Cardamones’ individual lawsuit by signing pleadings, attending at least one deposition, and receiving correspondence on the Cardamones’ behalf. (R. Vol. I, p. 116) In other words, the Cardamones’ former attorney from their lawsuit against Dryvit was now pursuing a lawsuit based on their actions while that attorney represented them. The Honorable Marvin H. Dukes, III, issued an order finding that this conflict of interest disqualified Finn, and all other attorneys in the Alford group, from representing the plaintiffs in the *Treon/Tucker* action. (R. Vol. I, p. 118-128) Thomas J. Pendarvis, I. Gregory Hodges, Timothy D. Roberts, and Williams J. Hunter (the Pendarvis group) now represent the *Treon/Tucker* plaintiffs.

Although disqualified as counsel in the *Treon/Tucker* action, the Alford group attorneys continued to represent the class in the *Cardamone* action through its settlement. Judge Dukes’s disqualification order prohibited the Alford group “from conferring or sharing any information with [the Pendarvis group], lest the conflict be imputed to them.” (r. Vol. I, p. 128) Judge Dukes subsequently clarified this by order to allow the Alford

group attorneys to return the file to their client and to provide the Pendarvis group with non-confidential information regarding the status of the case. (R. Vol. I, p. 130-131) Judge Dukes also allowed the Pendarvis group to file a motion with the Court if counsel believed additional information was needed to protect the clients' interests. (R. Vol. I, p. 131)

B. Judge Hayes's Appointment to the *Treon/Tucker* Action

In August 2010, two months after the *Cardamone* class action had settled and was dismissed with prejudice, the chief administrative judge in Beaufort County appointed Judge Hayes to handle the *Treon/Tucker* case. In July 2011, Judge Hayes heard arguments on the motion for certification of the *Treon/Tucker* class. During this hearing, it became clear that Judge Hayes had been exposed to years of *ex parte* communications, which convinced him – without ever having heard from Appellants – that Appellants had “failed to do their job” as class counsel. (R. Vol. II, p. 673, ll. 24-25)

For instance, after Kent Stair, on behalf of the *Treon/Tucker* defendants, concluded his arguments as to why the plaintiffs had not carried their various burdens in relation to class certification, Judge Hayes admitted that he “[did] not want to grant this class certification,” but went on to explain:

[W]hat I'm having a difficulty separating from, sir [Mr. Stair], is the fact that there was a class action litigation in place, that the lawyers that this side of the courtroom is representing in all indications failed to do their job and sit – let this South Carolina case sit for an extremely long period of time, let that fruit rot on the vine and did not send out any notice. ... *I have seen documents, I have seen letters, I have seen emails that highly suggest that there was a deal contemplated between Dryvit lawyers and class counsels and included these members of – that were the – these class representatives*, a secret deal to make the South Carolina case rot on the vine while *Posey* went, while

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