THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

RECEIVED
JUL 28 2014
SC Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM BEAUFORT COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

J. Mark Hayes, II, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2002-CP-07-1377
Appellate Case No. 2013-001367

Ex Parte: William Dixon Robertson III;
William M. Bowen; W. Jefferson Leath, Jr.;
Michael S. Seekings; and Timothy W. Bouch.....Appellants

Timothy J. Treon and his wife, Frances Treon; P. Jennings Scarce;
and Steven Christian individually and on behalf of other similarly
situated in the State of South CarolinaRespondents

v.

Dryvit Systems,
Inc.....Defendant

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

Gregory M. Alford
S.C. Bar No. 06932
gregg@alfordlawsc.com

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

ARGUMENTS

I. **The Rule to Show Cause is an Interlocutory Order that is Not Subject to Immediate Appeal and Does Not Impact Appellants’ Right to a Jury Trial in Another Matter.**

The order appealed from “require[s] each member of Cardamone Counsel and the Original Class Representatives to appear before it and account for the funds and or benefits, if any, they received as a result of their representation of this Class.” (R. Vol. 1, p.9) The Order is entirely interlocutory because it merely requires an “examination” of the Appellants and does not grant any relief, make any finding of fact, or otherwise resolve this action or any distinct branch thereof. See generally, S.C. Code Ann. §14-3-330(1) and Link v. School Dist. of Pickens County, 302 S.C. 1, 393 S.E.2d 176 (1990). Intermediate or interlocutory orders are not immediately appealable unless they meet an applicable exception set forth in Section 14-3-330 or one of several specialized appellate statutes. The first pertinent exception can be found in Section 14-3-330(1) and pertains to interlocutory orders “involving the merits” of a cause of action or defense. Our appellate courts have interpreted the 330(1) exception to apply to orders that “finally determine some substantial matter forming the whole or a part of some cause of action or defense.” Green v. City of Columbia, 311 S.C. 78, 79-80, 427 S.E.2d 685, 687 (Ct. App. 1993). The Order decides nothing involving the merits of the matter, but merely requires Appellants to account for their conduct while serving as class counsel. The second applicable exception is found in Section 14-3-330(2) and pertains to an interlocutory order that

“affects a substantial right” and “determines the action and prevents a judgment from which an appeal might be taken or discontinues the action.” Again, the inquiry ordered by the Order is merely the beginning of a process; it makes no findings, grants no relief and does not determine any issue with finality. No other specialized appellate statute pertains to this matter.

Because the appealed order is interlocutory and does not meet one of the exceptions set forth in either Section 14-3-330 or one of the specialized appellate statutes, Respondents renew their request that the instant appeal be dismissed pursuant to Rule 240, SCACR.

Significantly, Appellants offer no support for their claim that this class action lawsuit is “integrally related” to two other class actions that have been filed against Cardamone Counsel. Appellants incorrectly claim that every member of Intervening Class Counsel was also counsel in the two other class actions. This is not accurate in that attorneys Richard Gleissner and Robert B. (Sam) Phillips, both of the Finkel Law Firm, were not class counsel in either of the other class actions. Although Respondents do not believe that the make-up of class counsel in these actions, or the fact they both arise from the same subject matter, create grounds for an appeal, that issue has become moot given that Judge Clifford Neuman recently decertified both of the malpractice class actions. (R. Vol. 1, pp.64-79) Even if those actions were still pending, Appellants offer no support from Rule 23 jurisprudence to support their position.

Appellants cite Fulmer v. Cain to contend that the Rule to Show Cause order is immediately appealable because it affects the mode of trial. The Appellants base this argument on their incorrect claim that they have a right to a jury trial. This contention is simply untrue. Furthermore, Fulmer cuts against the Appellants’ assertion. The Fulmer court cited Justice Pleicones’ dissent in Salmonsens v. CGD, Inc. which states that the “mode of trial” exception to the general rule that only final orders are appealable is confined to orders which

abridge a party's constitutional right to trial by jury. Fulmer involved an appeal from a court's order denying appellant's motion to remove. The court held that the order denying was not a final, appealable order and that it did not abridge the appellant's right to a jury trial. *Id.* Similarly, the Rule to Show Cause is not a final order nor does it affect the Appellants' right to a jury trial because, as Appellants concede, they have no such right for a Rule to Show Cause. See Initial Brief of Appellants, p. 19.

Appellants cite a number of cases (Gardner v. Travis, C&S Real Estate Services, Inc. v. Massengale, and Beall v. Doe) in an attempt to claim a right to a jury trial even though such a right does not exist in this case. These cases involve an action with combined legal and equitable issues, which is not the case here. The Rule to Show Cause seeks only to have the Appellants answer for their conduct before the trial court where the conduct took place. There will be no "trial" of legal and equitable issues because no legal issues are implicated by the Rule to Show Cause. Appellants' argument is analogous to a polluter who seeks to dismiss investigation by an appropriate regulator upon the argument that the regulator may find some pollution that can be used against it in a subsequent civil action. The apprehension about the discovery of misconduct and its potential for future harm in other litigation is not grounds for creating a right to a jury trial where one did not previously exist.

II. The Trial Judge Has the Power to Compel Appellants to Be Questioned Under Oath Regarding Lawyer Misconduct in this Matter.

Appellants claim the presiding trial judge in a Rule 23 action is without the power to inquire into the undisclosed activities of class counsel and the class representatives or to defer that inquiry until after the merits of the case are resolved. In other words, Appellants ask this Court to ignore the clear meaning of Rule 23, SCRCF which in pertinent part allows that "[t]he court may at any time impose such terms as shall fairly and adequately protect the interest of

the persons on whose behalf the action is brought or defended.” Rule 23(d)(2). This Rule “specifically permits the trial court to maintain continual control over class action proceedings.” Salmonsens v. CGD, Inc., 377 S.C. 422, 454, 661 S.E.2d 81, 88 (2008). A trial court has a specific responsibility to account for the benefits derived by Cardamone Representatives and their Counsel in this action in accordance with Rule 23 SCRPC. Premium Investment Corp. v. Green, 283 S.C. 464, 324 S.E. 2d 72 (Ct. App. 1984) (recognizing the fiduciary duty owed by class representatives and their lawyers to unnamed class members and that a constructive trust is the appropriate remedy for a violation of that duty.). “It is now generally conceded that a plaintiff who sues on behalf of a class and the attorney representing the class assume a fiduciary obligation to absent members of the class.” Premium Investment Corp. v. Green, 283 S.C. 464, 470, 324 S.E.2d 72, 76 (Ct. App. 1984) (noting the similarity of the fiduciary duty of class counsel and class representatives). Class counsel breached their fiduciary obligation to unnamed class members by using a class action to obtain a benefit for themselves, even if the benefit received “is not at the expense of the class.” Id. As our Court of Appeals explained, the assumption of this fiduciary obligation means “[t]he class representative also surrenders the right to settle the action in return for individual gain alone.” Id. It goes without saying that class counsel, who is ethically prohibited from having a personal interest in the litigation, is similarly prohibited from settling a class action for individual gain.

Appellants point to C&S Real Estate Services v. Massengale, 290 S.C. 299, 301, 350 S.E.2d 191, 193 (1986) for the proposition that “legal claims must be tried by a jury before the equitable claims can be resolved.” Of course, the instant actions could not be more distinguishable from the Massengale case. Where Massengale involved one action with certain equitable and legal causes of action between the same parties, the instant matter

involves a class of South Carolina homeowners whereas the now decertified malpractice class actions merely involve individuals. Without the Rule to Show Cause required by the Appealed Order, the unnamed class members in this action will never get their day in court to inquire into the nature and propriety of Appellants' undisclosed agreements that appear to have been bought at the expense of the unnamed class members.

Judge Hayes is simply exercising the widely recognized jurisdiction and power of a Rule 23 trial court to require class counsel to **truthfully and fully** disclose the circumstance and terms of the agreement(s) they reached with the Defendant and Posey class counsel on behalf of the unnamed class members and the monetary benefits they received from that agreement. Appellants cite no authority, and indeed none exists, where the court would lack jurisdiction over such a matter.

A Rule 23 Court must have the jurisdiction and power to investigate misconduct. The long history of abuse in the class action setting has made it absolutely necessary that courts have broad powers to protect the integrity of the process. To ensure that class representatives and class counsel do not abuse their fiduciary obligations, trial courts have "broad powers" under Rule 23 to "impose such terms as shall fairly and adequately protect the interest of the persons on whose behalf the [class] action is brought" so that the judicial system may not be used to abuse the rights of unnamed class members. Eldridge v. City of Greenwood, 308 S.C. 125, 127, 417 S.E.2d 532, 534 (1992). Many courts have recognized that the trial judge must police the actions of class representatives and class counsel to ensure that they do not violate their fiduciary obligations. Our Supreme Court recognized that "the kind of antagonism that will defeat the maintenance of a class action is the kind which relates to the subject matter in controversy" such as when the class representatives or their counsel have "a claim which

conflicts with the economic interests of the class." Waller v. Seabrook Island Property Owners Ass'n., 300 S.C. 465, 468, 388 S.E.2d 799, 801 (1990). Some courts have characterized the role of the trial judge in a Rule 23 action as that of a fiduciary because the court must be the guardian of the rights of absent class members at every stage of class litigation from pre-certification to settlement in order to guard against the inherent risk of conflict developing between class members and their representatives. See e.g., Shelton v. Pargo, Inc., 582 F.2d 1298 (4th Cir. 1978) (setting forth the duty of the trial court to unnamed class members prior to class certification) and Premium Investment Corp. v. Green, 283 S.C. 464, 472, 324 S.E.2d 72, 77 (Ct. App. 1984) (noting that the proposed dismissal of a class action requires court approval and notice to unnamed class members). The trial court's obligation to unnamed class members was universally recognized when South Carolina adopted its modern rules Rule of Civil Procedure in July of 1985. Those Rules included a provision that prohibited a class action from being "dismissed or compromised without the approval of the [trial] court, and notice of the proposed dismissal or compromise shall be given to all members of the class in such manner as the court directs." Rule 23(c), SCRCPP; see also Reynolds v. Beneficial National Bank, 288 F.3d 277, 280 (7th Cir. 2002) (noting the trend amongst courts "to term the district judge in the settlement phase of a class action suit a fiduciary of the class" and to impose on the trial court the same "high duty of care that the law requires of a fiduciary.").

A trial court's obligation to the unnamed members of a Rule 23 class is especially critical when the court is asked to approve a class action settlement. In Stanton v. Boeing Co., the United States Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit set forth a lengthy explanation of the "real" and "inherent dangers" of class action settlement to unnamed class members. 327 F.3d 938, 959-60 (2003).

[C]lass representatives have their own incentives to advance their interests at the expense of the class. ... The incentives for the [class counsel] negotiators to pursue their own self-interest and that of certain class members [which] can influence the result of the negotiations without any explicit expression or secret cabals. That is why [trial] court review of class action settlements includes not only consideration of whether there was **actual** fraud, overreaching or collusion but, as well, substantive consideration of whether the terms of the [settlement] decree are fair, reasonable and adequate to all concerned.

Id. at 960 (emphasis in original). Although the Ninth Circuit's policy is to let the trial judge decide whether a proposed class action settlement is **fair** to all concerned, the Court retains to itself the critical review of whether the terms of a class action settlement "directly lend themselves to **pursuit of self-interest** by class counsel and certain members of the class - namely, attorneys fees and the distribution of ... monetary relief among class members." Id. (emphasis added); see also Dewey v. Volkswagen Aktiengesellschaft, 681 F.3d 170, 183 (3rd Cir. 2012) (recognizing "the linchpin of the adequacy [of representation] requirement is the alignment of interests and incentives between the representative plaintiffs and the rest of the class.").

By concealing the agreement with Dryvit to pay Cardamone Counsel a substantial attorneys' fee that was contingent on the dismissal of this action, Counsel ignored the requirements of Rule 23(c), SCRCP and prevented the trial court from fulfilling its fiduciary duty to the unnamed class members. Specifically, Cardamone Counsel failed to provide the trial judge with any information concerning the two areas thought most important by the Ninth Circuit regarding the pursuit of self-interest, namely: (1) payment of attorneys' fees to class counsel and (2) distribution of enhanced monetary relief to certain class members. Certainly, the trial judge had no way to, nor reason to, inquire whether the Appellants' interests conflicted with those of the unnamed class members. It was only after Appellants withdrew from this matter that evidence was discovered which suggested that Cardamone Counsel's participation

in both Posey and this action was guided by personal financial reward rather than a good faith attempt to obtain something of value for the unnamed class members.

Appellants' argument suggests that a Rule 23 trial court lacks the authority to review attorneys' fees after they have been received by class counsel, regardless of whether they were disclosed to the trial judge or unnamed class members. This argument is disingenuous at its core as this trial court specifically reserved its right to review attorneys' fees issue in the settlement agreement and two (2) separate orders. The trial court first reserved its right to review fees in the final paragraph of the Order that relieved the Appellants as class counsel filed on or about November 20, 2006. (R. Vol. 1, pp.110 & 113) The trial court renewed that reservation in paragraphs 11, 12, and 30 in its order granting final approval of the settlement Respondents negotiated with Defendant Dryvit Systems, Inc. (R. Vol. 1, pp.137-38, 149-50) Even if Judge Hayes had not reserved the attorney fee issue in its November Order, he has the power to review fees already paid. In Rule 23 actions, a trial "court has broad equitable powers to deny attorneys' fees (or to require an attorney to disgorge fees already received) when an attorney represents clients with conflicting interests." Rodriguez v. Disner, 688 F.3d 645, 653 (9th Cir. 2012) citing Silbiger v. Prudence Bonds Corp., 180 F.2d 917, 920 (2d Cir.1950) ("Certainly by the beginning of the Seventeenth Century it had become a commonplace that an attorney must not represent opposed interests; and the usual consequence has been that he is debarred from receiving any fee from either [client], no matter how successful his labors."); see also Premium Investment Corp. v. Green, 283 S.C. 464, 324 S.E.2d 72 (Ct. App. 1984) (imposing a constructive trust on benefits obtained by class representatives and counsel in violation of their fiduciary duty to unnamed class members). In an early Rule 23 case, the United States Court of Appeals for the Third Circuit recognized the expansive powers

of a trial judge to perform a post-settlement review of an attorneys' fee award where class counsel had failed to inform the presiding judge of crucial information relevant to counsel's possibly self-serving motives. In re: E. Sugar Antitrust Litig., 697 F.2d 524, 533 (3rd Cir. 1982).

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